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Chapter 2 – The Church in the Valley

Catholicism entered the wilderness of the north Central Valley with Spanish explorer Gabriel Moraga, who arrived in September 1806, seeking suitable sites for additional, inland missions. He forded the San Joaquin River just below its junction with the Calaveras River near Stockton. Ascending the Calaveras, Moraga explored the Mokelumne watershed and made his way northward. Padre Pedro Munoz, his chaplain, must have offered the first Mass in the wilds that were to become the Diocese of Stockton.

Under the presidency of Father (now Blessed) Junipero Serra, California’s missions depended on Mexico. Not until 1840 was the Diocese of Ambas [both] Californias established. Francisco Garcia Diego y Moreno was its first bishop. Santa Barbara was his see city. 

Meanwhile, Jedediah Smith and his fur trappers visited the area in 1825. Smith’s description of natural resources, including beaver, game and timber, motivated the Hudson Bay Company in Vancouver to send trappers into the region, many of them French Canadian Catholics. Some settled here. 

By 1846, the United States and Mexico were at war. Mexico ceded California in the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo on February 2, 1848. A door opened eastward. John Sutter built Sacramento. After two futile attempts, in 1847 Charles Weber began the settlement of Tuleburg, renamed Stockton in 1848. 

Gold!

With the discovery of gold in 1848, the Rush began. Weber contracted with his friend, José Jésus for twenty-five able-bodied men to pan the gravel beds of the Stanislaus River. Baptized at Mission San José, José Jésus a leader of the Si-Yak-Umna tribe near what is now Knights Ferry on the Stanislaus, had returned to his people. 

Prospectors inundated the area. The names are familiar: Reverend James Wood, John Sullivan, J.H. Carson, Henry Angel, John Murphy. The richest diggings were on Wood’s Creek, where the town of Sonora now prospers. Serving a group of Mexican miners, Padre Jose Maria Suarez del Real, pastor of Mission Santa Clara, celebrated Mass in the area.  

Father Arnault, a Frenchman, erected in 1849 a little adobe church on what came to be known in Sonora as “Hospital Hill.” Simultaneously, Father Cian Chan arrived from San Francisco as pastor to the Chinese population in Chinese Camp. 

An American diocese 

Separated from Mexico, California became a diocese in 1850, with Joseph Sadoc Alemany, OP, as bishop, and Monterey as the see city (transferred to San Francisco in 1853.) He sailed into San Francisco Bay on December 6, 1850.

Within three weeks, Father Francisco Vilarrasa, OP, who had accompanied Bishop Alemany, visited Stockton: “Stockton, no priest, no church. An Irishman had two houses. Gave us one, which we converted into a chapel. On Christmas Day 1850, I said the first Mass and preached.”

Father Henry Aleric succeeded Fr. Arnault in May 1851. Fr. Aleric became the pastor of the new county of Tuolumne, in the new state of California. His parish extended to Santa Fe in the east, Monterey in the south. 

In June a French immigrant, Abbé Dominique Blaive, offered what is believed by some historians to have been the first Mass in Stockton. He reportedly offered Mass in the homes of Charles and Helen Murphy Weber and of Nicholas Den. Old deeds, correspondence and tradition pinpoint his arrival in 1851. His parish included all of San Joaquin and Stanislaus Counties and parts of Amador, Calaveras, Contra Costa, Mariposa, Merced and Tuolumne Counties. 

The mother church

Charles Weber donated lots at Washington and Hunter Streets for a church, which Fr. Blaive immediately began to build. The rough-cut board-and-sailcloth structure was replaced in 1861 by the first stage of St. Mary of the Assumption. Sections were constructed as funds were raised. The structure was completed in 1913. 

St. Mary’s is “the mother church” of the northern San Joaquin Valley and the Sierra Foothills. Most parishes in the Diocese of Stockton are its offshoots.  

St. Joachim, Lockeford (1882); St. Patrick, Atlanta (now Ripon/Escalon/Farmington) (1878); St. Stanislaus, Modesto (1878); St. Mary, Lathrop (1887); Our Lady of Mt. Carmel, Big Oak Flat (1901); St. Michael, Waterloo (1902); St. Bernard, Tracy (1888); St. Gertrude, Stockton (1913); St. Anthony, Manteca (1915): all were originally missions of St. Mary’s.

The Archdiocese of San Francisco grows

For decades, the diocese depended largely on Irish clergy. Seeking to develop local priestly vocations, Archbishop Patrick W. Riordan established St. Patrick Seminary in Menlo Park in 1898. He brought Sulpicians, specialists in priestly formation, to operate St. Patrick. Archbishop John J. Mitty would later also commit himself to developing a highly trained clergy. 

Women religious came first as educators. The first Sisters arrived with Bishop Alemany in 1850, in the person of Dominican novice Mary Goemaere from Belgium. Her foundation eventually became the Dominicans of San Rafael.

Meanwhile, immigrants—Irish, French, German, Mexican, Italian, Chinese, Portuguese (mostly from the Azores), Japanese—poured in. (Even more in recent times; see Chapter 7.) 

Settlers arrived from the East, especially after the transcontinental railroad was completed in 1869. English-speakers among them tended to consider Spanish-speakers “foreigners,” no matter how long their ancestors had been in California. 

An immigrant himself, and sensitive to diverse needs, Bishop Alemany established “national” parishes (actually, by language) when possible. He spoke out against racism.

Within the Archdiocese of San Francisco, the Church’s mission responded to local needs, such as the birth of Catholic Charities in the wake of the 1906 earthquake and fire. 

The Archdiocese took an active role in social issues under the leadership of Archbishops Riordan and Hanna, and even more through the “consecrated thunderbolt,” Father Peter C. Yorke, who espoused the cause of labor from the 1890s till his death in 1925.
Through the twentieth century, the Central Valley remained rural, its economy based mostly on family farms, some augmented by migrant labor, and on canneries. Stockton was the primary urban center. 

St. Mary’s bell

In the 1930’s Archdiocesan officials responded to an apparent migration of Stockton Catholics north, away from the neighborhood of Old St. Mary’s, by planning two new parishes. St. Mary’s of the Annunciation would be built in north Stockton. Another parish would replace St. Mary of the Assumption and serve the southernmost part of the city. St. Mary’s was to be razed. 

In the early 1940s, the pastor of Old St. Mary’s, Monsignor William McGough, was assigned to build Annunciation. In his enthusiasm, he had the 1,500-pound bell, cast in 1853, relocated from Old St. Mary’s to the new church and mounted in the bell tower behind a foot of reinforced concrete.

Old St. Mary’s parishioners were not pleased with plans to destroy their beloved church. That fact and declining population made fund-raising almost impossible. Old St. Mary’s was spared.

Now the parishioners asked for the return of their bell, not the replacement offered by Monsignor McGough. The Monsignor advised the Archbishop that if he would furnish the dynamite, the bell would indeed be returned. The bell remains in the Annunciation bell tower to this day. 

Contractor Corbin Shepherd liked to tell how Msgr. McGough ordered workmen to bury the steel beams which were to be used in the church construction. During World War II, steel was hard to come by, and Monsignor was not about to let his beams go anywhere but into the structure of his church. So the beams were buried and removed from the earth as needed. 
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